
 

 

 

AGENDA 

COMMISSION ON THE ENVIRONMENT 

Wednesday, July 21, 2021 
6:00 PM – Remote Access Only 

 

 

 
CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL 

Commissioners: Cathlin Atchison, Bryce Ebrahimian, Michelle Beritzhoff-Law, Meredith Keet, 
Margaux Keiser, Peter Wilk 
 
WRITTEN COMMUNICATIONS (No action may be taken) 

All correspondence received prior to 12 NOON on the day of the meeting will be distributed to the 
Commissioners to review. The Committee Members may not discuss Written Communications to any 
significant degree but may request issues raised be placed on a future agenda. 

 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES – March 17, 2021 

 
OTHER BUSINESS 
 

1. Gas Powered Leaf Blower Ban 
2. Rispin Park Riparian Restoration 

 
ITEMS FOR FUTURE AGENDAS 
 
ADJOURNMENT to August 18, 2021 
 
 
 
Notice: The Commission on the Environment meets monthly 6:00 PM. Meetings are Remote Access Only. 

 
Agenda and Agenda Packet Materials: The Commission on the Environment Agenda is available on the City's 
website: www.cityofcapitola.org/ on Friday prior to the Wednesday meeting. If you need additional information 
please contact the Public Works Department at (831) 475-7300. 
 
Americans with Disabilities Act:  Disability-related aids or services are available to enable persons with a 
disability to participate in this meeting consistent with the Federal Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990.  
Assisted listening devices are available for individuals with hearing impairments at the meeting in the City 
Council Chambers.  Should you require special accommodations to participate in the meeting due to a disability, 
please contact the City Clerk’s office at least 24-hours in advance of the meeting at 831-475-7300. In an effort to 
accommodate individuals with environmental sensitivities, attendees are requested to refrain from wearing 
perfumes and other scented products. 

 
NOTICE OF REMOTE ACCESS ONLY 

 
In accordance with the current Santa Cruz County Health Order outlining social distancing 
requirements and Executive Order N-29-20 from the Executive Department of the State of California, 
the Commission on the Environment meeting is not physically open to the public and in person 
attendance cannot be accommodated. 
 
To join Zoom Meeting: 
 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/85055360417?pwd=L0NLZXN3SmV4VzBhOGtxMHdaSmhNdz09 
 

• Meeting ID: 850 5536 0417 

• Passcode: 845700 

http://www.cityofcapitola.org/
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/85055360417?pwd=L0NLZXN3SmV4VzBhOGtxMHdaSmhNdz09


 

 

• OR With a landline or mobile phone, call one of the following numbers: 

+1 408 638 0968 US (San Jose) 
+1 669 900 6833 US (San Jose) 

 
Enter the Meeting ID#: 837 4683 5709 

 
To comment via email: 
 
Comments and additional material may be sent to the Commission via 
CapitolaDPW@ci.capitola.ca.us by 12NOON on the day of the meeting for distribution to Commission 
members. 

 

mailto:CapitolaDPW@ci.capitola.ca.us


DRAFT MINUTES 

Commission on the Environment 

Regular Meeting  

March 17, 2021 

 
 
CALL TO ORDER  
Commissioners Present: Michelle Beritzhoff-Law, Meredith Keet, Margaux Keiser, Peter Wilk 
Commissioners Absent: Cathlin Atchison, Bryce Ebrahimian 
City Staff Present:  Steve Jesberg, Danielle Uharriet 
 
Chairperson Wilk called the meeting to order at 6:00 pm 
 
WRITTEN & ORAL COMMUNICATIONS - None 
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES – February 17, 2021 minutes were approved (Beritzhoff-Law/Keet; Keiser 
abstained) 

 
OTHER BUSINESS 
 

1. 2021 Meeting Schedule approved (Keet/Keiser) 
2. Work Plan 

a. Compostable and Biodegradable Take Out Materials 
The Commission discussed the limited resources for enforcement. All agreed that helping businesses 
with product options and suggestions to comply with the ordinance mandates rather than hinder 
businesses would be the most productive way to support local businesses. 
Peter Wilk suggested reviewing the restaurant guide produced by the Surfrider Foundation. 
Meredith Keet suggested Save Our Shores may also have information to be included in a guide. 
Michelle Beritzhoff-Law offered to create guide template for the Commission to input content. 
 

b. Rispin Park Riparian Restoration – information only 
Grants would be the best options to fund further riparian restoration work into Rispin Park. 

 
c. CAP 

The City has taken steps toward reducing its impact on the environment by quantifying its 2005 
baseline community-wide GHG emissions and regularly updating the inventory in 2010, 2015, and 
2018; and has already met the 2020 AB 32 GHG emissions reduction targets. The most recent 
inventory will move to further reductions by 2030 as well as the 2045 carbon neutrality goal. 
 
Focusing emissions reductions on transportation and natural gas are needed to achieve goals by 
2045. The Commission should discuss and develop transportation and natural gas reduction action 
items for inclusion in a presentation/report to the City Council by the Community Development 
Director.  

 
3. Gas Powered Leaf Blower Ban 

The Commission further discussed banning gas-powered leaf blower ban in Capitola; and agreed the 
current ordinance is restrictive; battery/electric powered leaf blowers may not be a better option; 
banning gas powered blowers could lead to a ban on all landscape equipment such as 
trimmers/edgers, chain saws, lawn mowers; perhaps this ban is not a high priority but educating users 
of the existing ordinance regulations would be a more positive approach. 
Peter Wilk provided comparison information from the EPA and will share his research information with 
staff. The Commission requested staff to bring back a comparison table of gas and electric landscape 
equipment. 



Commission on the Environment 
March 17, 2021 DRAFT Minutes 
Page 2 

 
ITEMS FOR FUTURE AGENDAS 
Leaf blower comparison table 
 
ADJOURNMENT to May 19, 2021 
 
 
 

Approved at the meeting of May 19, 2021 

 
___________________________________ 
Danielle Uharriet 
Environmental Projects Manager 



CITY OF CAPITOLA 
COMMISSION ON THE ENVIRONMENT 
Agenda Report 
 
Meeting Date:  July 21, 2021 
 
Agenda Item:  1 
 
Subject:  Gas Powered Leaf Blower Ban  

 
The commission has been considering pros and cons of gas-powered and electric/battery leaf blowers 
but concluded that further research and comparisons to other landscape equipment was necessary to 
further evaluate the need for a citywide ban. The following information focuses on air pollution/carbon 
monoxide, particulate matter emissions and noise from various types of gas-powered and 
battery/electric landscape equipment. 
 
Emissions comparisons between gas-powered and electric/battery powered landscape equipment is 
difficult to assess due to various engine sizes, battery types and sizes, equipment age and 
manufacture; therefore, the electric/battery information is approximate. 
Particulate matter created by gas-powered landscape equipment is a measured emission; 
Electric/battery powered landscape equipment do not produce contaminates such as hydrocarbons 
but do sweep up similar amounts of hazardous airborne particulate matter. 
 
Air Pollution/Emissions 
 

 CO 
Carbon 

Monoxide 
(lbs./hour) 

PM 
Particulate 

Matter 
(g/hp-hr) 

 

Gas Leaf Blower  12 lbs 7.7 

Electric Leaf Blower  0.478 lbs ~7.7 

Gas Lawn Mower 89 lbs. 7.7 

Electric Lawn Mower 0.0001 lbs. ~7.7 

Gas Trimmer/edgers/cutters 10 lbs. 7.7 

Electric Trimmer/edgers/cutters 0 ~7.7 

Gas Chainsaw ~85-90lbs. not available 

Electric Chainsaw 0 not available 

 
Noise 
 
Noise is measured in a unit called a decibel (dB). Decibels work on a logarithmic scale, meaning that 
the perceived increase of 10 dB is a doubling of the sound. A leaf blower that operates at 70 dB will 
sound twice as loud as a leaf blower operating at 60 dB. The dB(A) system assigns lower decibel 
values to low-frequency sounds, which are harder for the human ear to hear.  
 

Noise Levels 
  

30 dB(A) Soft whisper 

40 dB(A) Refrigerator hum 

60 dB(A) Normal conversation, air conditioner, metal rake on concrete 

65-85 dB(A) 
Measured at a 
distance of 50 ft. 

Gas powered leaf blower 
Electric/battery powered leaf blower 



90-100 dB(A) Gas-powered lawn mower, chainsaw, motorcycle 

120 dB(A) Emergency vehicle siren 

 
It is recommended that the Commission review and discuss the comparison information and make a 
recommendation to the City Council. 
 
 



CITY OF CAPITOLA 
COMMISSION ON THE ENVIRONMENT 
Agenda Report 
 
Meeting Date:  July 21, 2021 
 
Agenda Item:  2 
 
Subject:  Rispin Park Riparian Restoration  

 
The city’s consulting riparian restoration specialist, George McMenamin prepared an evaluation of the 
existing landscape and a proposed project budget for the removal of invasive species and riparian 
restoration of three overgrown areas within Rispin Park. Mr. McMenamins’ site vegetation evaluation 
and budget are attached. 
 
Funding is not available to initiate the work, however there may be Regional Conservation District 
grants or other grant opportunities available for the work. 
 



Ar
ea

 1

Ar
ea

 2

Ar
ea

 3

Ris
pin

 Pr
op

ert
y -

 R
ipa

ria
n A

rea
s



1 
 

Evaluation and Discussion of the Rispin Riparian Areas Relating to Invasive Plant Species Control 

and Benefits 

March 2021 

By George McMenamin 

 

Table of contents 

 

Page 2   Introduction 

Page 2   Description of Rispin Mansion Areas 

Page 2   Plant Species 

Page 3   Invasive Plant Species and their Effects on Riparian Habitat at Soquel Creek 

Page 5   IPM’s (Integrated Pest Management Practices 

Page 6   Benefits of Invasive Plant Species Removal 

Page 7   Area Specific Initial Invasive Plant Species Removal Methods and Related Issues 

Page 10 Solutions or Alternatives Related to Specific Issues with the Invasive Plant Control 

Methods 

Page 11   Maintenance Work after the Initial Invasive Removal 

Page 11   Monitoring 

Page 12   Suggestions and Discussion 

 

 

    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



2 
 

 

 

Introduction 

This evaluation is for 3 areas directly west of Soquel Creek and east of Wharf Road, in Capitola. The evaluation is to 

evaluate the benefits of removing invasive plant species and discuss applicable methods for removal, within these 

areas. All 3 areas are designated as within the Soquel Creek Riparian Corridor and Area 2 is designated as within 

the Soquel Creek Monarch Butterfly Grove. These areas have been prioritized by the City of Capitola, with the 

highest priority for Area 1, Area 2 and Area 3 respectively. Due to these designations and other legal requirements, 

there are limitations and restrictions on which invasive plant species are affected and the invasive plant control 

methods utilized. 

Description of Rispin Riparian Areas 

All three areas are riparian habitat with a dense tree canopy. During the rainy season, the creek bank and sections 

with stream terraces or bankful benches are regularly inundated with a high-water mark of approximately 2-4 

meters. In years of high precipitation, the water can exceed the mean high-water mark by several meters or more. 

There is a large amount of trash and large debris on the slopes, particularly in Area 1 and Area 3. Additionally, 

there is at least 1 large ground level culvert running down the slope, what appears to be a collapsed septic tank 

and several other smaller holes. There are potentially an additional number of infrastructure obstacles hidden 

under the vegetation on the banks. 

Area 1 runs along the west bank of Soquel Creek from the foot bridge south to the southern end of Rispin 

Mansion. This includes the area between the pathway and the creek, and Rispin Mansion and the creek. Area 1 is 

approximately 152 meters (500’) by 34 meters (110’). The majority of Area 1 is sloped from 3:1 (180) to 1:1 (450). 

Along much of the creek edge is a stream terrace 7-10 meters wide subject to regular flooding during the rainy 

season.                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       

Area 2 runs along the west bank of Soquel Creek from the southern end of the Rispin Mansion to the City’ 

southern property line. This includes the area from the top of the slope to the toe of the streambank. Area 2 is 

approximately 76 meters (250’) by 34 meters (110’). Most of Area 2 is sloped from 3:1 (180) to 2:1 (270). Along 

most of the creek edge is a stream terrace 7-10 meters wide subject to regular flooding during the rainy season.                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                            

Area 3 runs along the west bank of Soquel Creek from the foot bridge north to the City northern property line. This 

includes all the area from Wharf Road to the toe of streambank. Area 3 is approximately 92 meters (300’) by 61 

meters (200’). The slopes in this area range from sheer cliffs at the creek edge to a practically level area and finally 

to slopes from 3:1 (180) to 2:1 (270). Approximately 15-20% of Area 3 was previously subject to restoration efforts, 

in the mid-2000s’. Remnants of that restoration effort are still present, at this time. These remnants include 

surviving small to moderate sized native trees, some native shrubs, several understory native plant species and 

reduced levels of invasive plant cover.                                                                                  

Plant Species 

In Area 1 and Area 2, the dominant tree species are Acacia sp. and Eucalyptus sp. Both of these are non-native 

trees. Additionally, there are smaller non-native Prunus sp. and shrubs such as Cotoneaster sp. and Pyracantha 

augustifolia. All of these trees and shrubs are highly invasive. The native trees species found in Areas 1 and 2 were 

almost exclusively mature, except down at the stream edge. The native trees down by the stream edge include 

Salix sp. (willow), Alnus rubra (Red alder), Cornus sp. (dogwood). Sequoia sempervirens (coast redwood), Quercus 

sp. (oaks), Aesculus californica (buckeye) and possibly a few young Populus trichocarpa (black cottonwood) are 

found higher up on the banks and at the cliff edge.                                                                                                                                                                    

The dominant non-native understory plant species in these areas are Hedera helix (English ivy) Delairea odorata 



3 
 

(Cape ivy) and Vinca major (periwinkle). All are highly invasive. English ivy dominates the understory throughout 

both of these areas to 80%+ ground coverage. Vinca can be found mixed in with the English ivy for much of the 

areas. Cape ivy was found in 2 large patches and numerous early, small patches through these areas. Cape ivy is 

not as widely spread as the English ivy, at this time. However, Cape ivy is very aggressive, spreads rapidly and is 

extremely difficult to eradicate. Additional non-native plant species of concern include Cortaderia jubata (Jubata 

grass), Ehrharta erecta (panic veldt grass), Ageratina adenophora (crofton weed), Solanum sp., Genista 

monspessulana (French broom) and Cirsium vulgare (bull thistle). Although the Ehrharta, Ageratina infestations are 

limited, these species are extremely invasive and likely to spread rapidly and dominate habitat outside this area. At 

this time, the Cortaderia infestation is only 4-6 plants of moderate size, and the Solanum sp., Cirsium and Genista 

infestations are limited in scope.                                                                                                                                                                            

Due to the dominate understory of English ivy, Vinca and Cape ivy, observed native shrubs and understory species 

were limited to mostly remnant or decreasing populations. The only natives found as a significant percentage of 

understory was Toxicodendron diversilobum (poison oak) and in some areas Rubus ursinus (California blackberry). 

Other key native plants include mature Sambucus nigra (blue elderberry), mature Ribes sp. (currant/gooseberry), 

Stachys sp. (hedge nettle), Scrophularia californica (beeplant), Woodwardia fimbriata (chain fern) and Pteridium 

aquilinum (Bracken fern).                                                                                                                                                              

In Area 3, the non-native trees are not dominant. Those present are mostly Prunus sp. and acacia with a dbh 

(diameter breast height) of less than 6”. However, there are a number of large Cotoneaster sp. and several 

Pyracantha. Although English ivy is the dominant understory species in Area 3, its’ percent coverage varies from a 

low percent cover (less than 20%) in some areas, to 60-80% coverage in other areas. This is likely due to the 

previous restoration that took place in the mid-2000s. The other key invasive plant species is Cape ivy. Along the 

southern border and on the cliff face, Cape ivy is the dominant species. A moderate patch of French broom is 

found on the western banks, above the unofficial footpath. Low levels of Vinca are present in some areas and 2 

small patches of Panic veldt grass were found on top of the cliff face.                                                                                                                                                                                                   

In Area 3, the dominant tree species are native Sequoia sempervirens (coast redwood) and Quercus sp. (oaks). 

Additionally, there are several Aesculus (buckeye), a number of Frangula californica (coffeeberry) and a few Ribes 

sp. (gooseberry). Some young native trees had managed to survive to heights of 4-6’+. Other significant native 

species include Rubus parviflorus (thimbleberry), Stachys sp. (hedge nettle), Toxicodendron diversilobum (poison 

oak), Scrophularia californica (beeplant), Woodwardia fimbriata (chain fern) and Rubus ursinus (california 

blackberry). 

Invasive Plant Species and their Effects on Riparian Habitat at Soquel Creek 

In general, invasive plant species reduce diversity of plant and animal species, change water and soil conditions, 

increase erosion and reduce the ability of habitat to survive stochastic processes and events. These negative 

effects can be particularly significant in riparian zones due to the slopes and proximity to water. This section 

discusses some of the potential effects from the key invasive plants found in the Soquel Creek Riparian corridor. 

Parts of this discussion are for informational purposes only, as some of the invasive plant species cannot be 

treated due to environmental and/or legal restrictions.  

• Eucalyptus sp. - The majority of the Eucalyptus trees in these 3 areas are found in the Soquel Creek 

Monarch Butterfly Grove and directly adjacent to the Grove. These Eucalyptus trees provide habitat for 

Monarch butterflies during periods of the year. For the purpose of this document, it is my understanding 

that there are still protections in place for the Monarch Butterfly and other legal restrictions that preclude 

cutting or disturbing the Eucalyptus trees in and around the Grove. Therefore, the discussion on 

Eucalyptus trees is for informational purposes only. However, a November ruling by a Sacramento 

Superior Court prevented California from listing the Monarch Butterflies as endangered and the USDFW 

recently put on hold the listing the Monarch Butterfly as endangered, due to higher priority species. 

Therefore, due to these issues, Monarch Butterfly protections may change in the future.                                                                                                                                                          

Eucalyptus trees negatively affect riparian habitats in several ways. They are fast growing, large trees that 



4 
 

utilize significant resources and shade out many other plant species. Eucalyptus trees have allelopathic 

properties that prevent or inhibit the growth of most native riparian understory species and native tree 

seedlings. These allelopathic properties include, but are not limited to, Eucalyptus litter (bark and leaves) 

leaching allelopathic chemicals into the soil and water. Additionally, the dense litter itself inhibits the 

growth of other tree seedlings and understory species. These properties lead to greatly reduced diversity 

for both plant species and animal species, including insects. Additionally, Eucalyptus trees increase fire 

danger with their dense litter and the highly flammable oils found in the tree. 

• Acacia sp. – At the time this document was created no cutting of trees is permitted in any of the evaluated 

areas. Therefore, the discussion on Acacia trees is for informational purposes only. Acacia trees negatively 

affect riparian habitats in many ways similar to Eucalyptus trees. Acacias may shade out other species. 

Acacia plant parts and litter have extreme allelopathic properties that greatly inhibit the growth of almost 

all other species, particularly native species. These properties lead to greatly reduced diversity for both 

plant species and animal species, including insects. Like Eucalyptus trees, Acacia trees increase fire danger 

with their litter and the oils found in the tree. Finally, Acacias are a nitrogen fixing species that changes 

the soils nutrient levels and chemistry. 

• Pittosporum sp. – Although this species is not usually considered invasive in this region, it appears to be 

spreading at this location from planted trees at the Mansion. There are now a significant number of 

various ages competing for resources on the streambank.  

• Prunus sp. - Most of these have a dbh under 3”, at this time. Due to the dense ivy understory and the 

smaller size of the Prunus there is limited potential opportunity for new seedlings to grow. If the ivy is 

removed it is likely that seeds will create numerous new prunus seedlings.  

• Cotoneaster sp. and Pyracantha sp. - Both of these create large numbers of berries that are eaten and 

spread by birds and other animals. Over time this can create a significant number of new plants 

throughout the riparian habitat.  

• Genista monspessulana - French broom creates large quantities of seed pods that are released over a 

large area. Genista seed remains viable for decades. Over time this can result in large monocultured 

patches of Genista where nothing else will grow. Genista is another nitrogen fixing species that changes 

the soil nutrient levels and chemistry. 

• Hedera helix - English ivy is the dominant understory species in most of these areas. Growth surrounding 

tree trunks leads to root rot and weakens the trees. English ivy has grown into the canopy of 

approximately 350 trees in the 3 evaluated areas. This canopy growth weakens the trees, causes tree 

branches to break from the weight and the dense English ivy canopy growth acts like a sail in high winds, 

breaking branches and causing trees to topple. The understory growth has created a density that prevents 

almost all native species seedlings from propagating or surviving, due to a lack of sunlight and nutrients. 

In most areas, English ivy has created a monoculture with no young tree seedlings and drastically reduced 

understory diversity. Additionally, English ivy is mildly toxic to many animals and insects leading to a 

reduction in fauna species within the areas affected. However, some bird species eat the berries and 

spread the seeds over distance created large numbers of new seedlings and increasing the infected area. 

• Delairea odorata - Cape ivy is an extremely rapidly spreading vine that can grow at rates of over 6 meters 

(20’) a year in all directions. It rapidly grows up into tree canopies where it adds weight breaking branches 

and acting like a sail in the wind. The above ground vines easily break into pieces, which allow it to spread 

vegetatively. A piece as small as 1/2” with 1 node can re-root. Due to the high-water content of Cape ivy, 

pieces can remain in trees or on the ground and survive through the entire dry season. As soon as it rains 

each small piece that has contact with the ground will begin to root. Additionally, the underground 

rhizomes and stolons can grow long distances before emerging above ground. The easily broken vines, 

stolons, rhizomes, roots, aggressive vegetative growth, and high-water content make eradicating Cape ivy 

is difficult. Cape ivy is mildly toxic to most animals and insects, leading to a reduction in fauna species 

within the areas affected. 



5 
 

• Vinca major - Vinca spreads vegetatively. Its stems grow along the ground and re-roots at its many nodes. 

Vinca creates a dense monoculture in the understory preventing the propagation of most native plant 

seedlings, greatly reducing herbaceous diversity. Additionally, Vinca is highly toxic to eat. It contains 

highly poisonous alkaloids. 

• Cortaderia jubata - Jubata grass grows seed plumes up to 3+ meters in height and releases large quantities 

of wind born seed. At this time, it is a limited threat due to the small number of plants, but potentially 

could become a significant problem if left to spread. 

• Ageratina Adenophora - There are only a few small patches of a Ageratina found within the evaluated 

area. However, each plant creates thousands of windborne seed that can readily propagate in riparian 

areas and there by spread rapidly. In spite of its low number of small patches, it has already appeared 

across the creek upstream. If it is left to spread, it will become a common and dominant plant species 

throughout the areas both upstream and downstream. 

• Ehrharta erecta – Ehrharta was only observed in 2 limited patches within the evaluated areas. However, 

this species can go to seed 3 times a year and grows very well in both sunlight and in full shade. It is one 

of the most rapidly spreading invasive grasses in the Central Coast region. If left it will likely become one 

of the most dominant grasses in the Perry Park, Rispin Mansion area. 

• Cirsium vulgare – Bull thistle was observed at only 1 location in Area 1. It will spread throughout the 

immediate area and beyond if left unchecked. At this time, it is a limited threat due to the low number of 

plants.  

IPM’s (Integrated Pest Management Practices)  

There are a number of IPM’s (Integrated Pest Management Practices) for invasive plant species. Some of them will 

not be appropriate for this area, due to restrictions and or environmental conditions. The document will briefly 

provide general information on some of the IPM’s. Some of these methods are mentioned only for informational 

purposes. 

• Hand grubbing – This method consists of removing invasive plants by hand and/or utilizing hand tools 

only. Some of the advantages include: this method can be used on almost all invasive species, it allows the 

greatest access to targeted areas, these methods create greater awareness of desirable plants and 

conditions in the area leading to low levels of damage to desirable plants. In addition, hand work can 

allow a reduction in areas of disturbance, has the ability to remove all of a plant including the roots, often 

causes less environmental damage to the habitat, requires lower levels of training, and hand removal 

methods can be easily adjusted based on targeted species and conditions. Finally, hand removal often 

allows for a more rapid recovery of the habitat with greater native species diversity.                                           

Disadvantages include: some level of desirable plant damage from trampling, higher costs per unit treated 

(if paid labor is used), hand removal often takes longer to complete a treatment and a higher cost of 

green waste movement and disposal. Hand removal sometimes creates a level of soil disturbance, 

depending on targeted species, although this can be a desirable feature, depending on future 

management plans. 

• Individual Mechanical removal – These methods usually involve the use of individual gas/battery power 

tools such as: mowers, brush cutters, string trimmers, hedge trimmers, augers and chainsaws. When 

appropriate, the advantages include: lower costs and greater speed than hand grubbing, little soil 

disturbance, individual equipment allows a high level of access to areas and a moderate level of control 

over unintended damage to desirable plants.                                                                                                        

The disadvantages include: these methods are only effective for specific species, careful timing is often 

needed to achieve effective results, a level of training is required, cost may be higher per labor unit and 

there are potential safety issues. Other disadvantages include noise, the potential for damage to desirable 

plant species, the potential to spread invasive plant species into greater areas. Finally, these methods 

often do not kill the plant, leading to regrowth and the need for multiple treatments a year. 



6 
 

• Mechanized equipment - These methods involve equipment such as tractors, mulchers, bull dozers, 

excavators, skid steerers and loaders. It is usually used for larger areas or monocultured sites. When 

appropriate, the advantages include: rapid removal of invasive plants on a large scale, relatively low cost 

for removal on a large scale, removal of some root systems, the ability to remove large, undesirable plants 

such as trees quickly, and rapid movement of green waste materials.                                                   

Disadvantages include: high per unit hour costs, work must be done by trained personnel, there is little 

control over micro to moderate scale environmental damage, equipment often causes significant soil 

disturbance, noise, and often requires habitat modification for access, leading to greater areas of 

disturbance (access road building). 

• Biocontrol – Although there are bio-controls agents approved or in final trials in California for some of the 

invasive plant species, none are likely to be useful, at these locations. These sites are either not 

appropriate for their use or not acceptable for final trails. Also, most of the related bio-control agents do 

not eradicate the targeted species and will not result in any effective reduction in total invasive plant 

species. 

• Animal grazing – Animal grazing (goats only) may be appropriate for some sections of Area 1 and 2. 

However, there are factors which may exclude their use. These include the small scale of the areas, the 

steep banks and the fact that the 3 dominant understory species range from mildly toxic to highly toxic to 

most livestock. Goats could prove effective in some sections for the English and Cape ivy surface mass, as 

they can eat both plants. However, they would not work in areas with Vinca. Another concern is that 

goats will also eat desirable plants and can girdle smaller trees and shrubs. 

• Herbicide – This discussion is for general information only. All herbicide application must be done by or 

under the direction of a licensed applicator, by trained professionals. As I understand it, at this time, only 

1 application method (cut and paint) for a specific purpose may be allowed, at these sites. However, the 

method and timing of herbicide application is often as important as the herbicide itself. Therefore, a brief 

discussion is provided for 3 methods. I have been informed that the third method is not allowed.  

o The first method is the Cut and Paint (cut- stump) application. This is the method I would 

recommend for treatment of the English ivy growing up the trees. The cut and paint method 

usually requires no surfactant and is applied directly to the cut stump of the vine, utilizing 

applicators that allow for precise treatment. It can be applied carefully with no appreciable risk 

of herbicide transfer to the soil, water or onto desirable plant species. Cut and paint application 

practically eliminates any risk to animals and humans. It allows a greatly reduced amount of 

herbicide to be applied and is highly effective. It is a cost-effective treatment that prevents 

damage to trees and shrubs by English ivy. 

o  The second method is called Basal bark application. This method would be applicable for trees 

and woody stemmed species. The herbicide is applied to the bark of the woody species. This 

method kills the plant over a period of time. I would not recommend this method in these 3 

areas. 

o The third method is spot spray application using a backpack sprayer. It can be carefully targeted 

into specific areas. It must be applied following rigid standards to avoid damage to the habitat, 

water and animals. It would require the use of a surfactant, for the understory species in this 

area. I would not recommend this method for initial efforts in most of the 3 areas. Herbicides 

would have only low to moderately effectiveness on the mature stands of English ivy or the Cape 

ivy and Vinca without multiple applications over several years. If the areas were first cleared of 

these species, spot spray could be effective for early resprouts. 

Benefits of Invasive Plant Species Removal 

In these 3 areas, the specific benefits from the removal of invasive plant species would be dependent on the 

species removed, the removal level of the invasive plant species, the native plant species present and the existing 



7 
 

native seed bank. As tree removal is not allowed, at the time of this document, discussion of the benefits of 

reductions or removal of invasive tree removal are for informational purposes.                                                                                                                       

In Areas 1 and 2, the invasive Eucalyptus and Acacia trees have the greatest negative effects on the riparian 

habitat. Removing some of them would open up the areas to increased sunlight. Reductions in the number of 

Eucalyptus and Acacia would decrease the allelopathic effects of the bark and leaf litter. Additionally, reductions 

would increase the water and nutrients available for native tree/shrub seedlings and increase the availability of 

these resources for native herbaceous species. This would lead to greater plant and animal diversity both on land 

and in Soquel Creek. However, a reduction in the invasive tree canopy without associated understory invasive 

removal work, could also lead to an increase in the growth of existing invasive plant species and shrubs.                

For the understory of Areas 1 and 2, reductions in or the removal of specific toxic plants such as English ivy, Cape 

ivy and Vinca would greatly increase plant diversity and populations by allowing greater propagation of native 

plant seeds and population growth vegetatively. This would improve the habitat for insects, birds, fish and other 

animals, leading to an increase in both animal species and populations on land and in the creek.                                                                                                                                                      

In Area 3, non-native trees are a lesser issue, so the associated allelopathic issues are not a significant concern. 

However, non-native shrubs represent a moderate threat. Removing the Cotoneaster, Pyracantha and French 

broom would help prevent a further increase in the population size and density of these 3 species and would allow 

maintenance to begin depleting the associated seed banks. This would reduce competition to the existing native 

shrubs. The removal of English ivy and Cape ivy in this area would lead to a further increase in native tree/shrub 

seedlings and result in the rapid establishment of the sustainable native understory created by the previous 

unfinished restoration effort. Removal of the English ivy and Cape ivy from the cliff face oaks and redwood trees 

would increase their health and reduce the possibility of them falling and further eroding the cliff, as has happened 

in the past.                                                                                                      

Area Specific Initial Invasive Plant Species Removal Methods and Related Issues  

Notes:                                                                                                                                                                                             

The methods discussed here are general with limited detail provided. Details of the particulars for each method or 

alternative are available, but are not necessary for this evaluation.                                                                                                                         

There is a timing element to each of the invasive plant methods. In some cases, it will be possible to coordinate the 

use of multiple methods simultaneously. However, there will be cases where a single method must be completed 

before other methods can begin. 

In each area, removal methods will be presented, followed by a discussion of potential issues.                                      

After the sections on methods and issues for all 3 areas, there will be a section on possible solutions or alternatives 

related the issues, if available. 

For all 3 areas, the first step would to kill the Cape ivy and English ivy in the trees. Cape ivy should be pulled out of 

the trees and shrubs to the greatest practical extent possible. This requires little training and only a few hand tools. 

Removed mass should be contained for disposal. English ivy vines should be cut and the stumps painted with 

herbicide. This would kill all the English ivy above the cut and the herbicide would damage and kills the roots.   

Area 1                                                                                                                                                                                                   

There are 4 additional treatment methods that could prove useful to fully accomplish the removal of key invasive 

plants in Area 1.                                                                                                                                                                         

After the ivy in the trees is removed, the understory invasive plant species would need to be worked. This could be 

accomplished with Hand grubbing, Individual mechanical, Mechanized equipment and goats. In sections where 

goats are appropriate and if they can be utilized, they would be placed to eat much of the English ivy and Cape ivy. 

In the northern most section and in the stream terrace area, only 2 removal methods would be appropriate; 

Individual mechanical methods and Hand grubbing. This is due to the species involved, degree of the slope, large 

amount of low growing or dead woody debris and potential for sedimentation. 



8 
 

In some sections, Mechanized equipment is the key to the initial work due to the scale of the area, the density of 

the understory, the significant level of woody debris mixed in the understory and the heavy layer of Eucalyptus 

bark and leaf litter. This equipment would be used to clear much of the area. Additionally, this equipment would 

be used to move the green waste. Individual mechanical methods could be used to clear woody debris and make 

paths for access and fencing. Throughout the entire process, Hand removal methods would take place in areas 

unavailable to mechanized equipment, in areas with a significant percentage of desirable native plants, when 

working in the stream bench areas, after the Mechanized equipment did the main mass removal and as a follow up 

to goats. 

Issues 

• The use of Mechanized equipment may be restricted. Use of this equipment would require the removal of 

some small to moderate Eucalyptus trees and many Acacia trees to create temporary roads and paths for 

equipment access and allow removal of green waste. The temporary access roads would need to be 

graded to slope which could require additional permits. Finally, Mechanized equipment treads results in 

some level of soil compaction where it is used. This compaction may adversely affect the health of the 

trees.  

• The use of Goats will not be practical for the northern section of Area 1. The scale of this project may be 

too small for most goat herders. If possible, the use of goats may be possible for the southern section, 

adjacent to Area 2. Containing them within this area may not be practical or effective due to the terrain 

and trees.  

• Without the use of Mechanized equipment and/or goats, all work would need to be done with Hand 

grubbing. The dense mature understory is mixed with dense Eucalyptus litter down brush and branches. 

This increases the time and effort required for removal significantly. The steepness of the slopes 

exacerbates the time and effort required for removal.  

• No matter what method is used, a large amount of green waste will be created. Moving and removing the 

mass will be costly. 

• Erosion and sediment flow potential are a significant environmental and legal concern. No matter what 

method is used, most of the slopes would need to be cleared to bare soil. This would create a large area 

that would require erosion control. Due to the steepness and length of the slopes, there is potential for 

significant movement of sediment into Soquel Creek. Basic erosion control practices (wattles, straw, seed 

and blanket) may not be sufficient for steeper slopes and long slopes. Additionally, the stream terrace 

area that floods regularly during the winter represents even a greater area of potential sediment flow and 

erosion. Correct erosion control practices for these conditions likely will require specialized knowledge 

and may require an engineered solution in sections. 

• Hand grubbing has 2 potential risk beside those associated with physical work in a riparian area. These 

include the presence of poison oak throughout the areas and the likelihood of numerous Yellow Jacket 

nests, during all work periods. 

Area 2                                                                                                                                                                                          

There are 4 additional treatment methods that could prove useful to fully accomplish the removal of key invasive 

plants in Area 2.                                                                                                                                                                         

After the ivy in the trees is removed, the understory invasive plant species would need to be worked. This could be 

accomplished with Hand grubbing, Individual mechanical, Mechanized equipment and goats. 

This is the Area where goats have the most potential. Goats may be allowed within the Monarch Butterfly Grove. 

They could remove invasive plant understory and limit green waste. They would also increase accessibility within 

this Area, reducing the need for mechanized equipment. This could greatly reduce the potential disturbance to the 

Monarch Butterfly and the habitat. If goats could be used in this area, the need for Mechanized equipment may be 

reduced significantly. Potentially, the equipment would be needed only to create initial access for clearing some 



9 
 

invasive plant root systems and for the removal of green waste.  Individual mechanical methods could be restricted 

to clearing woody debris and making paths for access and fencing. Throughout the entire process, Hand removal 

would take place in areas unavailable to mechanized equipment, in areas with a significant percentage of desirable 

native plants, when working in the stream bench areas, after any Mechanized equipment removal and as a follow 

up to goats. 

Issues 

• The use of Mechanized equipment may be restricted. Use of this equipment would require the removal of 

some small to moderate Eucalyptus trees and many Acacia trees to create temporary roads and paths for 

equipment access and allow removal of green waste. The temporary access roads would need to be 

graded to slope which could require additional permits. Finally, Mechanized equipment treads results in 

some level of soil compaction where it is used. This compaction may adversely affect the health of the 

trees.  

• Without the use of Mechanized equipment and/or goats, all work would need to be done with Hand 

grubbing. The dense mature understory is mixed with Eucalyptus litter down brush and branches. This 

increases the time and effort required for removal significantly. The steepness of the slopes exacerbates 

the time and effort required for removal.  

• No matter what method is used, a large amount of green waste will be created. Moving and removing the 

mass will be costly.  

• Erosion and sediment flow potential are a significant environmental and legal concern. No matter what 

method is used, most of the slopes would need to be cleared to bare soil. This would create a large area 

that would require erosion control. Due to the steepness and length of the slopes, there is potential for 

significant movement of sediment into Soquel Creek. Basic erosion control practices (wattles, straw, seed 

and blanket) may not be sufficient for steeper slopes and long slopes. Additionally, the stream terrace 

area that floods regularly during the winter represents even a greater area of potential sediment flow and 

erosion. Correct erosion control practices for these conditions may require specialized knowledge and 

may require an engineered solution in sections, particularly in the stream terrace area.  

• Hand grubbing has 2 potential risk beside those associated with physical work in a riparian area. These 

include the presence of poison oak throughout the areas and the likelihood of numerous Yellow Jacket 

nests, during all work periods. 

Area 3                                                                                                                                                                                          

There are 3 additional treatment methods that could prove useful to fully accomplish the removal of key invasive 

plants in Area 1.                                                                                                                                                                         

After the ivy in the trees is removed, the understory invasive plant species would need to be worked. This could be 

accomplished with Hand grubbing, Individual mechanical, Mechanized equipment.                                                         

It is unlikely that goats are appropriate for use in this area. This area is fragmented into smaller sections, there are 

sheer cliffs, a long 1;1 slope and significant levels of native species.                                                                                                 

This is an area well outside the Monarch Butterfly Grove, so it is likely Mechanized equipment could be used on 

the upper western slopes, northern border section and for movement of green waste.                                             

Individual mechanical equipment use would be limited, although it could be used for some access and upper mass 

removal, in some sections. In Area 3, the majority of the work should require Hand grubbing methods, due to the 

increased native plant coverage, previous restoration work and long steep slopes and cliffs.  

Issues 

• Mechanized equipment treads results in some level of soil compaction. This compaction may adversely 

affect the health of the native trees. 

• The steepness and length of the slopes exacerbates the time and effort required for removal.  



10 
 

• A large amount of green waste will be created. Moving and removing the mass will be costly.  

• Erosion and sediment flow potential are a significant environmental and legal concern. No matter what 

method is used, most of the slopes in the southern section would need to be cleared to bare soil. This 

would create a large area that would require erosion control. Due to the steepness and length of the 

slopes, there is potential for significant movement of sediment into Soquel Creek. Basic erosion control 

practices (wattles, straw, seed and blanket) may not be sufficient for steeper slopes and long slopes. 

Correct erosion control practices for conditions in the southern half of Area 3 may require specialized 

knowledge and may require an engineered solution.  

• Hand grubbing has 2 potential risk beside those associated with physical work in a riparian area. These 

include the presence of poison oak throughout the areas and the likelihood of numerous Yellow Jacket 

nests, during all work periods. 

Solutions or Alternatives Related to Specific Issues with the Invasive Plant control Methods 

Some of the issues with specific invasive plant removal methods are the same or similar for all 3 areas. This section 

will explore potential solution or alternatives, if no real solution is available. 

Goats – This assumes that the use of goats in some areas is allowed. The key issues with goats are: the small scale 

of the appropriate areas for them, the problem with containment, the potential issue with poisonous Vinca and 

damage to desirable plants and trees.  

• To have goatherders bring goats into this area, the City would have to agree to a significantly higher per 

acre charge with a minimum fee.  

• Methods and requirements for containment must be built into the contract, with clear guidelines for loss 

of containment. Methods and requirements for containment must be built into the contract.  

• In most cases, goats will not eat Vinca, However, there are exceptions, such as when it is mixed in with 

more desirable species. These areas could be placed outside the goat containment fenced areas or 

monitored carefully.                              

•  Some initial loss of desirable natives is likely. However, trees could be wrapped and large patches or 

sensitive native plant species could be placed outside the goat containment fenced areas. 

Mechanized equipment – The main issues with Mechanized equipment are: potentially the equipment is not 

allowed, some trees must be trimmed or removed, access roads will need to be graded and soil compaction 

concerns. 

• If Mechanized equipment is not allowed, the related 3 issues have no relevance. The only alternatives 

would be some combination of goats, Individual mechanical equipment and Hand grubbing to remove 

invasive plant species and green waste.  

• If no trees can be trimmed or removed, there would be no access roads or the associated soil compaction. 

• If access roads were permitted, it is likely additional permits will be required for grading and earth 

movement. 

• Soil compaction would be greatly reduced with the use of specific rubber tracked equipment with lower 

ground pressure. 

Individual mechanical equipment – In the hands of trained personnel, the only practical issue might be noise. For 

some applications, this could be greatly reduced with the use of battery-operated equipment. 

Hand grubbing – Poison oak will be unavoidable in some sections of each area. Some crews are used to performing 

work around poison oak and usually have little problem with the species. Selecting crews with experience working 

around poison oak is the solution. Treatment medications and soap and water should be made available. Yellow 

jacket nests can either be avoided, or eradicated if necessary. 



11 
 

Green waste – This is one of the 3 biggest cost concerns. There would be an enormous amount of green waste 

associated with the 3 areas for the understory invasive plant species. The cost of moving and disposing of this 

material will be substantial. One partial solution would be the goats. Goats eat almost all above ground understory 

plant material (excluding Vinca). This could significantly lower the amount of green waste in sections of Area 1 and 

Area 2. The second alternative would be to leave the material onsite, in large piles to rot. 

Trash, Large Debris and Hidden Infrastructure – Much of the debris could be removed by hand. However, some of 

the large debris would need to be either broken down or pulled up the slope with equipment or winches. In some 

cases, the best solution would be to leave it in place. Prior to the beginning of work, a careful walk through could 

identify and flag any infrastructure elements. 

Erosion and Sediment Control – It is strongly recommended that input is acquired from a CESCP (Certified Erosion 

and Sediment Control Professional) and possibly a civil engineer. The long steep slopes and stream terrace areas 

have potential for a tremendous movement of sediment into Soquel Creek and a significant increase in erosion, 

particularly on a seasonally hydrologically active waterway, like Soquel Creek.                                                                                                                                                          

Although I could estimate the placement of basic erosion control materials such as wattles, blankets, straw and 

seed, these may not be sufficient for the long, steep sections of bank, with slopes exceeding 2:1. The stream 

terrace areas are beyond my knowledge base, unless careful supervised hand removal to retain native tree and 

plant roots would be sufficient. I do have some suggestions that would likely work for the steep banks, although 

they may not be practical administratively.                                                                                                                                                                                                                  

• A vegetated buffer zone could be left down by creek edge to filter any sediment moving from the slopes. 

This buffer zone could be removed in a later year, after the slopes above had stabilized with vegetation. 

The banks would likely take 1 or 2 years to stabilize. 

• The 3 areas could be done in sections over a period of years. This would limit the potential increase of 

sediment or erosion, in any one time period. 

Maintenance Work after the Initial Invasive Removal 

Initial invasive plant species removal will not eradicate most of the species found in these areas. Once a plant 

species become established it creates a seedbank. Many of these invasive species have seed viability of 3-5 years 

or greater. Invasive species that spread vegetatively often can resprout from small broken pieces with a node 

attached. Additionally, there are continuing vectors of infestation from factors such as human disturbance, animal 

movements and movement from infestations upstream. Due to these factors, monitoring and maintenance will be 

required for at least 5 years.                                                                                                                                                          

If the initial invasive plant removal was done with the correct timing and methods, maintenance costs will drop 

significantly the first year and should continue to drop yearly, until they reach a sustainable level. If all the initial 

work is done correctly, methods such as Mechanized equipment and goats would likely no longer be required, in 

year 1.  Green waste removal cost and efforts will drop substantially each year, after the initial removal. The 

methods required after the first year should be Hand grubbing and some Individual mechanical work. Additionally, 

there should be a substantial reduction in the effort and cost for Hand grubbing work, by year 2.  Although it is not 

allowed at this time, in year 1 or 2, a single, carefully timed, limited spot spraying with herbicide could prove highly 

effective for certain understory species, such as Vinca, to reduce costs and accelerate the process. 

If long term success and/or sustainable restoration are the goals, some level of sustainable invasive plant 

maintenance will be required into perpetuity, due to the continuing vectors of human disturbance, animal 

movements and plant material movement from upstream. 

Monitoring 

After the initial removal, the 3 areas will need to be monitored regularly for erosion control, during the rainy 

season, and twice a year for invasive plant species and general environmental conditions. The monitoring of 



12 
 

erosion control materials for damage or failure will need to continue until the stream banks have stabilized (1 or 2 

years). The monitoring for invasive plant regrowth and general environmental conditions will need to continue for 

at least 5 years, assuming regular yearly maintenance is provided utilizing effective established removal methods. 

If plausible, once a year monitoring should continue into perpetuity due to the continued vectors of human 

disturbance and invasive plant materials moving from upstream in Soquel Creek. 

Suggestions and Discussion 

There are areas where many or all of the issues would not apply. One area is between the 2 pathways above the 

bridge, at the border of Area 1 and Area 3. This area has excellent access and little sediment or erosion potential. 

This would allow for mechanized equipment and require limited basic erosion control. Additionally, there is a 

significant patch of native plant in the area.                                                                                                                               

A second area is most of the northern half of Area 3. This section has lower sediment and erosion potential and 

should require only basic erosion control practices. It is in the best environmental condition, partially due to the 

previous restoration work. It would be lowest cost and fastest area per unit to remove invasive plants or restore.                                                                                          

Finally, there are many patches of native plant species throughout the 3 areas. Some are located on less steep 

banks away from the creek where there is little potential for erosion and access is available. The invasive plant 

understory could be cleared from these patches, as well as a buffer zone around them (The Bradley Method). This 

would allow these patches to increase in size and potential spread. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   

                                                                                                                                        



General Budget Estimates for the Rispin Riparian Areas Relating to Invasive Plant Species 

Control and Benefits 

March 2021 

 By George McMenamin 

To remove all of the key invasive plant understory species in the 3 target areas would require a commitment of 10 

years or more for the initial removal and recovery. This timeframe would be required to practically eradicate these 

species without major environmental concerns, such as substantial erosion and sedimentation issues. It would also 

require a large revegetation effort with the associated water and maintenance issues. Additionally, the stream 

bench areas cannot realistically and practically be cleared of invasive plant species.                                         

Therefore, these general budget estimates will be for 2 options, in each area. The numbers are based on work 

that could be done safely under limiting restrictions, within 3 years (an initial removal and 2 years after). 

I have included what I estimate would be the minimum basic erosion requirement, as a cost. This basically consists 

of placing wattles at strategic locations. If some erosion costs were removed, the total cost for option 1 could be 

reduced by as much as $46,000 and the reduction for Option 2 could be as much as $33,000. These are not optimal 

solutions or likely sufficient steps for some areas but would be enough in other areas. As the stream terraces are 

practically off-limits for treatment, they represent the best existing option as a buffer zone for erosion and 

sediment prevention. The use of additional buffer zones may be an option. However, that would likely expand the 

work and cost beyond 3 years. 

Option 1 assumes that all methods and sections that can be practically done within 1-3 years, will be done.              

Option 2 assumes that only work that can be done under full restrictions and with limits on erosion and sediment 

potential.                                                                                                                                                                                              

I have provided the combined cost for treating the English Ivy growing in the trees, both separating (directly 

below) and within the estimates. This first step is the most critical. In the actual budget estimates, the $47,000 cost 

has been divided between the 3 areas.  

The cost for treating the English Ivy growing in all the trees, in the 3 areas, would be $47,000.00. That would 

include $10,000 for a 2nd pass at the English ivy regrowth, in 100 trees, after 2 years. 

____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Budget Estimates per Area- Option 1 

Option 1 - Area 1 

Estimated Total cost    $232,000 

Option 1 - Area 2 

Estimated Total cost    $120,000 

Option 1 - Area 3 

Estimated Total cost    $179.000 

 

Option 1 - Total costs for all 3 areas  ~$540,000 

____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

  



Budget Estimates per Area- Option 2 

Option 2 - Area 1 

Estimated Total cost    $91,000 

Option 2 - Area 2 

Estimated Total cost    $106,000 

Option 2 - Area 3 

Estimated Total cost    $85,000 

 

 Option 2 - Total costs for all 3 areas  ~$290,000 

 

 


	Revised 07-21-21 COE Agenda
	7-21-21 COE Agenda Packet
	07-21-21 COE Agenda
	3-17-21 COE Minutes
	1_leaf blower info
	2_rispin park riparian restoration
	2_riparian restoration 2
	2_rispin park riparian restoration
	2_rispin park riparian restoration
	rispin
	Map-1_Rispin Riparian map
	Evaluation and Discussion of Rispin Riparian Areas Relating to Invasive Plant Species Control Benefits
	General Budget Estimates for the Rispin Riparian Areas Relating to Invasive Plant Species Control and Benefits





